

# Journal of the Senate

TUESDAY, APRIL 26, 2022

The Senate was called to order by the President.

## Devotional Exercises

A moment of silence was observed in lieu of devotions.

## Pledge of Allegiance

The President then led the members of the Senate in the pledge of allegiance.

## Joint Senate Resolution Adopted on the Part of the Senate

### J.R.S. 52.

Joint Senate resolution of the following title was offered, read and adopted on the part of the Senate, and is as follows:

By Senator Balint,

**J.R.S. 52.** Joint resolution relating to weekend adjournment.

### *Resolved by the Senate and House of Representatives:*

That when the two Houses adjourn on Friday, April 29, 2022, it be to meet again no later than Tuesday, May 3, 2022.

## Consideration Postponed

### H. 411.

House bill entitled:

An act relating to the retrieval and use of covered wild animals.

Was taken up.

Thereupon, pending third reading of the bill, Senator Parent moved that the Senate propose to the House to amend the bill as follows:

First: In Sec. 1, 10 V.S.A. chapter 113, subchapter 7, in section 4921, subdivision (1), by striking out “, fur-bearing animal, or crow” and inserting in lieu thereof , or fur-bearing animal

Second: In Sec. 1, 10 V.S.A. chapter 113, subchapter 7, in section 4921, subdivision (3) after “the covered wild animal itself is” and before “decayed, rotting, diseased”, by inserting damaged, destroyed,

Third: In Sec. 1, 10 V.S.A. chapter 113, subchapter 7, in section 4923, subsection (a), in the first sentence, after “processed for its fur, hide,” and before “or feathers”, by inserting bones,

Fourth: In Sec. 1, 10 V.S.A. chapter 113, subchapter 7, in section 4924, subdivision (5), after “retrieval of a covered wild animal” and before “when a practice is”, by inserting , including

Thereupon, pending the question, Shall the Senate propose to the House to amend the bill as recommended by Senator Parent?, on motion of Senator Bray consideration of the bill was postponed until the next legislative day.

### **Bills Passed in Concurrence with Proposal of Amendment**

House bills of the following titles were severally read the third time and passed in concurrence with proposal of amendment:

**H. 548.** An act relating to miscellaneous cannabis establishment procedures.

**H. 711.** An act relating to the creation of the Opioid Settlement Advisory Committee and the Opioid Abatement Special Fund.

### **Proposal of Amendment; Third Reading Ordered; Rules Suspended; Bill Passed in Concurrence with Proposal of Amendment; Bill Messaged**

#### **H. 510.**

Senator Cummings, for the Committee on Finance, to which was referred House bill entitled:

An act relating to a Vermont Child Tax Credit and the Vermont Social Security income exclusion.

Reported recommending that the Senate propose to the House to amend the bill by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

\* \* \* Child Tax Credit \* \* \*

Sec. 1. 32 V.S.A. § 5830f is added to read:

#### § 5830f. VERMONT CHILD TAX CREDIT

(a) A resident individual or part-year resident individual who is entitled to a child tax credit under the laws of the United States shall be entitled to a refundable credit against the tax imposed by section 5822 of this title for the taxable year. The total credit per taxable year shall be in the amount of \$1,000.00 per qualifying child, as defined under 26 U.S.C. § 152(c), who is five years of age or younger as of the close of the calendar year in which the taxable year of the taxpayer begins. For a part-year resident individual, the

amount of the credit shall be multiplied by the percentage that the individual's income that is earned or received during the period of the individual's residency in this State bears to the individual's total income.

(b) Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, the amount of the credit per child under this section shall be reduced, but not below zero, by \$125.00 for each \$10,000.00, or fraction thereof, by which the individual's adjusted gross income exceeds \$55,000.00, irrespective of the individual's filing status. For purposes of this subsection, spouses filing jointly shall be considered an individual.

(c) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, the refundable credit and its payment authorized under this section shall be treated in the same manner as the federal Earned Income Tax Credit and shall not be considered as assets, income, or resources to the same extent the credit and its payment would be disregarded pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 6409 and the general welfare doctrine for purposes of determining eligibility for benefits or assistance, or the amount or extent of those benefits or assistance, under any State or local program, including programs established under 33 V.S.A. § 3512 and chapters 11, 17, 19, 21, 25, and 26. This subsection shall only apply to the extent that it does not conflict with federal law relating to the benefit or assistance program and that any required federal approval or waiver is first obtained for that program.

(d) An individual who is eligible for the credit under this section but who is not required to file a tax return under section 5861 of this title may claim the credit in the form and manner prescribed by the Commissioner of Taxes, provided the form and manner are as simple and easy to understand as possible.

\* \* \* Child and Dependent Care Tax Credit \* \* \*

Sec. 2. 32 V.S.A. § 5822(d) is amended to read:

(d)(1) A taxpayer shall be entitled to a credit against the tax imposed under this section of 24 percent of each of the credits allowed against the taxpayer's federal income tax for the taxable year as follows: the credit for people who are elderly or permanently totally disabled, and the investment tax credit attributable to the Vermont-property portion of the investment, and child-care and dependent-care credits.

\* \* \*

Sec. 3. 32 V.S.A. § 5828c is amended to read:

§ 5828c. ~~LOW-INCOME CHILD AND DEPENDENT CARE CREDIT~~

A resident of this State ~~with federal adjusted gross income less than~~

~~\$30,000.00 (or \$40,000.00 for married, filing jointly) shall be eligible for a refundable credit against the tax imposed under section 5822 of this title. The credit shall be equal to 50 percent of the federal child and dependent care credit allowed to the taxpayer for the taxable year for child or dependent care services provided in this State in a registered home or licensed facility certified by the Agency of Human Services as meeting national accreditation or national credential standards endorsed by the Agency. A credit under this section shall be in lieu of any child and dependent care credit available under subsection 5822(d) of this title.~~

\* \* \* Student Loan Interest Deduction \* \* \*

Sec. 4. 32 V.S.A. § 5811 is amended to read:

§ 5811. DEFINITIONS

~~The following definitions shall apply throughout~~ As used in this chapter unless the context requires otherwise:

\* \* \*

(21) “Taxable income” means, in the case of an individual, federal adjusted gross income determined without regard to 26 U.S.C. § 168(k) and:

\* \* \*

(B) decreased by the following items of income (to the extent such income is included in federal adjusted gross income):

\* \* \*

(iv) the portion of federally taxable benefits received under the federal Social Security Act that is required to be excluded under section 5830e of this chapter; and

\* \* \*

(vi) the amount of interest paid by a qualified resident taxpayer during the taxable year on a qualified education loan for the costs of attendance at an eligible educational institution; and

\* \* \*

(29) As used in subdivision (21)(B)(vi) of this section:

(A) “Qualified education loan” and “eligible educational institution” shall have the same meanings as under 26 U.S.C. § 221(d).

(B) “Qualified resident taxpayer” means an individual qualifying for residency as defined under subdivision (11) of this section and whose adjusted gross income is equal to or less than:

(i) \$120,000.00 if the individual's filing status is single, head of household, or married filing separately; or

(ii) \$200,000.00 if the individual's filing status is married filing jointly.

\* \* \* Statutory Purposes for Tax Expenditures \* \* \*

Sec. 5. 32 V.S.A. § 5813 is amended to read:

§ 5813. STATUTORY PURPOSES

\* \* \*

~~(c) The statutory purpose of the Vermont credit for child and dependent care in subsection 5822(d) of this title is to provide financial assistance to employees who must incur dependent care expenses to stay in the workforce in the absence of prekindergarten programming. [Repealed.]~~

\* \* \*

(r) The statutory purpose of the Vermont ~~low-income~~ child and dependent care tax credit in section 5828c of this title is to provide cash relief to ~~lower-income~~ employees who incur dependent care expenses ~~in certified centers~~ to enable them to remain in the workforce.

\* \* \*

(y) The statutory purpose of the Vermont child tax credit in section 5830f of this title is to provide financial support to families with young children.

(z) The statutory purpose of the exclusion from income of student loan interest paid in subdivision 5811(21)(B)(vi) of this title is to lessen the financial impact of higher education debt on Vermonters.

\* \* \* Sunsets; Tax Credits and Deduction \* \* \*

Sec. 6. REPEAL; CHILD TAX CREDIT

32 V.S.A. § 5830f (Vermont child tax credit) is repealed.

Sec. 7. 32 V.S.A. § 5822(d) is amended to read:

(d)(1) A taxpayer shall be entitled to a credit against the tax imposed under this section of 24 percent of each of the credits allowed against the taxpayer's federal income tax for the taxable year as follows: ~~the credit for people who are elderly or permanently totally disabled, and the investment tax credit attributable to the Vermont-property portion of the investment, and child care and dependent care credits.~~

\* \* \*

Sec. 8. 32 V.S.A. § 5828c is amended to read:

§ 5828c. LOW-INCOME CHILD AND DEPENDENT CARE CREDIT

A resident of this State with federal adjusted gross income less than \$30,000.00 (or \$40,000.00 for married, filing jointly) shall be eligible for a refundable credit against the tax imposed under section 5822 of this title. The credit shall be equal to 50 percent of the federal child and dependent care credit allowed to the taxpayer for the taxable year for child or dependent care services provided in this State in a registered home or licensed facility certified by the Agency of Human Services as meeting national accreditation or national credential standards endorsed by the Agency. A credit under this section shall be in lieu of any child and dependent care credit available under subsection 5822(d) of this title.

Sec. 9. 32 V.S.A. § 5811(21)(B) is amended to read:

(B) decreased by the following items of income (to the extent such income is included in federal adjusted gross income):

\* \* \*

(iv) the portion of federally taxable benefits received under the federal Social Security Act that is required to be excluded under section 5830e of this chapter; and

\* \* \*

~~(vi) the amount of interest paid by a qualified resident taxpayer during the taxable year on a qualified education loan for the costs of attendance at an eligible educational institution; and [Repealed.]~~

\* \* \*

(29) ~~As used in subdivision (21)(B)(vi) of this section:~~

~~(A) “Qualified education loan” and “eligible educational institution” shall have the same meanings as under 26 U.S.C. § 221(d).~~

~~(B) “Qualified resident taxpayer” means an individual qualifying for residency as defined under subdivision (11) of this section and whose adjusted gross income is equal to or less than:~~

~~(i) \$120,000.00 if the individual’s filing status is single, head of household, or married filing separately; or~~

~~(ii) \$200,000.00 if the individual’s filing status is married filing jointly. [Repealed.]~~

Sec. 10. 32 V.S.A. § 5813 is amended to read:

§ 5813. STATUTORY PURPOSES

\* \* \*

(c) The statutory purpose of the Vermont credit for child and dependent care in subsection 5822(d) of this title is to provide financial assistance to employees who must incur dependent care expenses to stay in the workforce in the absence of prekindergarten programming.

\* \* \*

(r) The statutory purpose of the Vermont low-income child and dependent care tax credit in section 5828c of this title is to provide cash relief to lower-income employees who incur dependent care expenses in certified centers to enable them to remain in the workforce.

\* \* \*

~~(y) The statutory purpose of the Vermont child tax credit in section 5830f of this title is to provide financial support to families with young children. [Repealed.]~~

~~(z) The statutory purpose of the exclusion from income of student loan interest paid in subdivision 5811(21)(B)(vi) of this title is to lessen the financial impact of higher education debt on Vermonters. [Repealed.]~~

\* \* \* Retirement Income Exclusions \* \* \*

Sec. 11. 32 V.S.A. § 5811(21)(B)(iv) is amended to read:

(iv) the portion of certain retirement income and federally taxable benefits received under the federal Social Security Act that is required to be excluded under section 5830e of this chapter; ~~and~~

Sec. 12. 32 V.S.A. § 5830e is amended to read:

§ 5830e. RETIREMENT INCOME; SOCIAL SECURITY INCOME

(a) Social Security income. The portion of federally taxable Social Security benefits excluded from taxable income under subdivision 5811(21)(B)(iv) of this chapter shall be as follows:

(1) For taxpayers whose filing status is single, married filing separately, head of household, or ~~qualifying widow or widower~~ surviving spouse:

(A) If the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer is less than or equal to ~~\$45,000.00~~ \$50,000.00, all federally taxable benefits received under the federal Social Security Act shall be excluded.

(B) If the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer is greater than ~~\$45,000.00~~ \$50,000.00 but less than ~~\$55,000.00~~ \$60,000.00, the percentage of federally taxable benefits received under the Social Security Act to be excluded shall be proportional to the amount of the taxpayer's federal adjusted gross income over ~~\$45,000.00~~ \$50,000.00, determined by:

(i) subtracting the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer from ~~\$55,000.00~~ \$60,000.00;

(ii) dividing the value under subdivision (i) of this subdivision (B) by \$10,000.00; and

(iii) multiplying the value under subdivision (ii) of this subdivision (B) by the federally taxable benefits received under the Social Security Act.

(C) If the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer is equal to or greater than ~~\$55,000.00~~ \$60,000.00, no amount of the federally taxable benefits received under the Social Security Act shall be excluded under this section.

(2) For taxpayers whose filing status is married filing jointly:

(A) If the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer is less than or equal to ~~\$60,000.00~~ \$65,000.00, all federally taxable benefits received under the Social Security Act shall be excluded.

(B) If the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer is greater than ~~\$60,000.00~~ \$65,000.00 but less than ~~\$70,000.00~~ \$75,000.00, the percentage of federally taxable benefits received under the Social Security Act to be excluded shall be proportional to the amount of the taxpayer's federal adjusted gross income over ~~\$60,000.00~~ \$65,000.00, determined by:

(i) subtracting the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer from ~~\$70,000.00~~ \$75,000.00;

(ii) dividing the value under subdivision (i) of this subdivision (B) by \$10,000.00; and

(iii) multiplying the value under subdivision (ii) of this subdivision (B) by the federally taxable benefits received under the Social Security Act.

(C) If the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer is equal to or greater than ~~\$70,000.00~~ \$75,000.00, no amount of the federally taxable benefits received under the Social Security Act shall be excluded under this section.



(b) Civil Service Retirement System income. The portion of income received from the Civil Service Retirement System excluded from taxable income under subdivision 5811(21)(B)(iv) of this title shall be subject to the limitations under subsection (e) of this section and shall be determined as follows:

(1) For taxpayers whose filing status is single, married filing separately, head of household, or surviving spouse:

(A) If the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer is less than or equal to \$50,000.00, the first \$10,000.00 of income received from the Civil Service Retirement System shall be excluded.

(B) If the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer is greater than \$50,000.00 but less than \$60,000.00, the percentage of the first \$10,000.00 of income received from the Civil Service Retirement System to be excluded shall be proportional to the amount of the taxpayer's federal adjusted gross income over \$50,000.00, determined by:

(i) subtracting the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer from \$60,000.00;

(ii) dividing the value under subdivision (i) of this subdivision (B) by \$10,000.00; and

(iii) multiplying the value under subdivision (ii) of this subdivision (B) by the income received from the Civil Service Retirement System.

(C) If the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer is equal to or greater than \$60,000.00, no amount of the income received from the Civil Service Retirement System shall be excluded under this section.

(2) For taxpayers whose filing status is married filing jointly:

(A) If the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer is less than or equal to \$65,000.00, the first \$10,000.00 of income received from the Civil Service Retirement System shall be excluded.

(B) If the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer is greater than \$65,000.00 but less than \$75,000.00, the percentage of the first \$10,000.00 of income received from the Civil Service Retirement System to be excluded shall be proportional to the amount of the taxpayer's federal adjusted gross income over \$65,000.00, determined by:

(i) subtracting the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer from \$75,000.00;

(ii) dividing the value under subdivision (i) of this subdivision (B) by \$10,000.00; and

(iii) multiplying the value under subdivision (ii) of this subdivision (B) by the income received from the Civil Service Retirement System.

(C) If the federal adjusted gross income of the taxpayer is equal to or greater than \$75,000.00, no amount of the income received from the Civil Service Retirement System shall be excluded under this section.

(c) Other contributory retirement systems; earnings not covered by Social Security. Other retirement income, except U.S. military retirement income pursuant to subsection (d) of this section, received by a taxpayer of this State shall be excluded pursuant to subsection (b) of this section as though the income were received from the Civil Service Retirement System and shall be subject to the limitations under subsection (e) of this section, provided that:

(1) the income is received from a contributory annuity, pension, endowment, or retirement system of:

(A) the U.S. government or a political subdivision or instrumentality of the U.S. government;

(B) this State or a political subdivision or instrumentality of this State; or

(C) another state or a political subdivision or instrumentality of another state; and

(2) the contributory system from which the income is received was based on earnings that were not covered by the Social Security Act.

(d) U.S. military retirement income. U.S. military retirement income received by a taxpayer of this State shall be excluded pursuant to subsection (b) of this section as though the income were received from the Civil Service Retirement System and shall be subject to the limitations under subsection (e) of this section.

(e) Requirement to elect one exclusion. A taxpayer of this State who is eligible during the taxable year for the Social Security income exclusion under subsection (a) of this section and any of the exclusions under subsections (b)–(d) of this section shall elect either one of the exclusions for which the taxpayer is eligible under subsections (b)–(d) of this section or the Social Security income exclusion under subsection (a) of this section, but not both, for the taxable year.

\* \* \* Affordable Housing Tax Credit; Manufactured Homes \* \* \*

Sec. 13. 32 V.S.A. § 5930u(g) is amended to read:

(g)(1) In any fiscal year, the allocating agency may award up to:

(A) ~~\$400,000.00~~ in total first-year credit allocations to all applicants for rental housing projects, for an aggregate limit of \$2,000,000.00 over any given five-year period that credits are available under this subdivision (A);

(B) ~~\$425,000.00~~ \$675,000.00 in total first-year credit allocations for loans or grants for owner-occupied unit financing or down payment loans as provided in subdivision (b)(2) of this section consistent with the allocation plan, including for new construction and manufactured housing, for an aggregate limit of ~~\$2,125,000.00~~ \$3,375,000.00 over any given five-year period that credits are available under this subdivision (B). Of the total first-year credit allocations made under this subdivision (B), \$250,000.00 shall be used each fiscal year for manufactured home purchase and replacement.

(2) If the full amount of first-year credits authorized by an award are not allocated to a taxpayer, the Agency may reclaim the amount not allocated and re-award such allocations to other applicants, and such re-awards shall not be subject to the limits set forth in subdivision (1) of this subsection.

\* \* \* Appropriations \* \* \*

Sec. 14. APPROPRIATION; AID FOR THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED

(a) In fiscal year 2023, in addition to other funds provided to the Department for Children and Families, a total of \$1,700,000.00 in Global Commitment funds is appropriated to increase the payments to eligible individuals in the Aid for the Aged, Blind, and Disabled program. It is the intent of the General Assembly that this increase should be incorporated into the annual budget funding for the Aid for the Aged, Blind, and Disabled program in fiscal year 2024 and after.

(b) In fiscal year 2023, to fund the Global Commitment investment authorized under subsection (a) of this section, there is appropriated to the Secretary's Office of the Agency of Human Services:

(1) the sum of \$750,000.00 from the General Fund; and

(2) the sum of \$950,000.00 from federal funds.

(c) To the extent permitted under federal law, any increase in payments provided under subsection (a) of this section is intended to be retained by recipients in residential care settings by increasing the individuals' personal needs allowance.

Sec. 15. FY 2023 APPROPRIATION; CHILD CARE WORKER  
RETENTION GRANT PROGRAM

In fiscal year 2023, the sum of \$3,500,000.00 is appropriated from the General Fund to the Department for Children and Families to continue to fund the early childhood staff and home-based provider retention grant program established in 2021 Acts and Resolves No. 74, Sec. G.300(a)(30), as added by 2022 Acts and Resolves No. 83, Sec. 68.

\* \* \* Effective Dates \* \* \*

Sec. 16. EFFECTIVE DATES

(a) This section shall take effect on passage.

(b) Notwithstanding 1 V.S.A. § 214, Secs. 1–5 (income tax credits and exclusions) and 11 and 12 (retirement income exclusions) shall take effect retroactively on January 1, 2022 and shall apply to taxable years beginning on and after January 1, 2022.

(c) Secs. 6–10 (sunsets; tax credits and deduction) shall take effect on January 1, 2025.

(d) Secs. 13 (affordable housing tax credit) and 14 and 15 (appropriations) shall take effect on July 1, 2022.

And that after passage the title of the bill be amended to read:

An act relating to tax reductions and other aid for Vermonters.

And that the bill ought to pass in concurrence with such proposal of amendment.

Senator Kitchel, for the Committee on Appropriations, to which the bill was referred, reported recommending that the bill ought to pass in concurrence with proposal of amendment as recommended by the Committee on Finance.

Thereupon, the bill was read the second time by title only pursuant to Rule 43, the proposal of amendment was agreed to, and third reading of the bill was ordered.

Thereupon, on motion of Senator Balint, the rules were suspended and the bill was placed on all remaining stages of its passage in concurrence with proposal of amendment.

Thereupon, the bill was read the third time and passed in concurrence with proposal of amendment on a roll call, Yeas 30, Nays 0.

Senator Cummings having demanded the yeas and nays, they were taken and are as follows:

**Roll Call**

**Those Senators who voted in the affirmative were:** Balint, Baruth, Benning, Bray, Brock, Campion, Chittenden, Clarkson, Collamore, Cummings, Hardy, Hooker, Ingalls, Kitchel, Lyons, MacDonald, Mazza, McCormack, Nitka, Parent, Pearson, Perchlik, Pollina, Ram Hinsdale, Sears, Sirotkin, Starr, Terenzini, Westman, White.

**Those Senators who voted in the negative were:** None.

Thereupon, on motion of Senator Balint, the rules were suspended and the bill was ordered messaged to the House forthwith.

**Third Readings Ordered****H. 293.**

Senator Pollina, for the Committee on Government Operations, to which was referred House bill entitled:

An act relating to creating the State Youth Council.

Reported that the bill ought to pass in concurrence.

Senator Westman, for the Committee on Appropriations, to which the bill was referred, reported that the bill ought to pass in concurrence.

Thereupon, the bill was read the second time by title only pursuant to Rule 43, and third reading of the bill was ordered.

**H. 655.**

Senator Lyons, for the Committee on Health and Welfare, to which was referred House bill entitled:

An act relating to telehealth licensure and registration and to provisional licensure for professions regulated by the Office of Professional Regulation.

Reported that the bill ought to pass in concurrence.

Senator Hardy, for the Committee on Finance, to which the bill was referred, reported that the bill ought to pass in concurrence.

Senator Starr, for the Committee on Appropriations, to which the bill was referred, reported that the bill ought to pass in concurrence.

Thereupon, the bill was read the second time by title only pursuant to Rule 43, and third reading of the bill was ordered.

**H. 741.**

Senator Collamore, for the Committee on Government Operations, to which was referred House bill entitled:

An act relating to approval of amendments to the charter of the City of St. Albans.

Reported that the bill ought to pass in concurrence.

Thereupon, the bill was read the second time by title only pursuant to Rule 43, and third reading of the bill was ordered.

**H. 744.**

Senator Ram Hinsdale, for the Committee on Government Operations, to which was referred House bill entitled:

An act relating to approval of an amendment to the charter of the City of Burlington.

Reported that the bill ought to pass in concurrence.

Thereupon, the bill was read the second time by title only pursuant to Rule 43, and third reading of the bill was ordered.

**Proposals of Amendment; Third Reading Ordered****H. 266.**

Senator Lyons, for the Committee on Health and Welfare, to which was referred House bill entitled:

An act relating to health insurance coverage for hearing aids.

Reported recommending that the Senate propose to the House to amend the bill as follows:

First: By striking out Sec. 2, essential health benefits; benchmark plan; hearing aids; report, in its entirety and inserting in lieu thereof a new Sec. 2 to read as follows:

Sec. 2. ESSENTIAL HEALTH BENEFITS; BENCHMARK PLAN;  
HEARING AIDS; REPORT

On or before November 1, 2022, the Departments of Vermont Health Access and of Financial Regulation shall provide an update to the Health Reform Oversight Committee regarding the status of the State's application to the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation within the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services to modify the essential health benefits in Vermont's benchmark plan to include coverage of hearing aids and related services beginning in plan year 2024.

Second: In Sec. 3, 33 V.S.A. § 1901k, following “as defined by the”, by striking out “Department of Vermont Health Access” and inserting in lieu thereof Agency of Human Services

Third: In Sec. 4, 8 V.S.A. § 4088l, in subdivision (a)(2), in the second sentence, following “does not include”, by striking out “cords.”

Fourth: In Sec. 4, 8 V.S.A. § 4088l, by striking out subsections (b) and (c) in their entireties and inserting in lieu thereof new subsections (b) and (c) to read as follows:

(b)(1) A health insurance plan shall cover the cost of a hearing aid for each ear and the associated hearing aid professional services when the hearing aid or aids are prescribed, fitted, and dispensed by a hearing care professional. The coverage shall include hearing aid batteries when prescribed by a hearing care professional.

(2) A health insurance plan may limit coverage to not more than one hearing aid per ear every three years, except that a plan shall cover the cost of one or more new hearing aids for a covered individual prior to the expiration of the three-year period based on a hearing care professional’s determination that a new hearing aid for one or both ears is medically necessary.

(c)(1) Subject to the limitations set forth in subdivision (b)(2) of this section, the coverage provided by a health plan for hearing aids and associated services shall be limited only by medical necessity.

(2) A covered individual may select a hearing aid that exceeds the limits set forth in subdivision (1) of this subsection and pay the additional cost.

And that the bill ought to pass in concurrence with such proposals of amendment.

Senator Westman, for the Committee on Appropriations, to which the bill was referred, reported recommending that the bill ought to pass in concurrence with proposals of amendment as recommended by the Committee on Health and Welfare.

Thereupon, the bill was read the second time by title only pursuant to Rule 43, the proposals of amendment were collectively agreed to, and third reading of the bill was ordered.

### **Proposal of Amendment; Third Reading Ordered**

#### **H. 462.**

Senator Terenzini, for the Committee on Health and Welfare, to which was referred House bill entitled:

An act relating to miscellaneous Department of Health programs.

Reported recommending that the Senate propose to the House to amend the bill by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

\* \* \* Division of Substance Use Programs \* \* \*

Sec. 1. 3 V.S.A. § 3004 is amended to read:

§ 3004. PERSONNEL DESIGNATION

The Secretary, Deputy Secretary, commissioners, deputy commissioners, attorneys, Directors of the Offices of State Economic Opportunity, ~~of Alcohol and Drug Abuse Programs~~, and of Child Support, and all members of boards, committees, commissions, or councils attached to the Agency for support are exempt from the classified State service. Except as authorized by section 311 of this title or otherwise by law, all other positions shall be within the classified service.

Sec. 2. 18 V.S.A. § 4255 is amended to read:

§ 4255. VERMONT PRESCRIPTION DRUG ADVISORY COUNCIL

\* \* \*

(b)(1) The Advisory Council shall consist of the following members:

(A) the Commissioner of Health or designee, who shall serve as chair;

(B) ~~the Deputy Commissioner of Health for Alcohol and Drug Abuse~~ a designee of the Division of Substance Use Programs ~~or designee~~;

\* \* \*

(CC) a drug and alcohol abuse counselor licensed pursuant to 26 V.S.A. chapter 62, to be selected by the ~~Deputy Commissioner of Health for Alcohol and Drug Abuse Programs~~;

\* \* \*

Sec. 3. 18 V.S.A. 4806 is amended to read:

§ 4806. ~~DIVISION OF ALCOHOL AND DRUG ABUSE~~ SUBSTANCE USE PROGRAMS

(a) The Division of ~~Alcohol and Drug Abuse~~ Substance Use Programs shall plan, operate, and evaluate a consistent, effective program of substance abuse use programs. All duties, responsibilities, and authority of the Division shall be carried out and exercised by and within the Department of Health.



\* \* \*

(c) Under the direction of the Commissioner of Health, ~~the Deputy Commissioner of Alcohol and Drug Abuse Programs~~ the Division shall review and approve all alcohol and drug programs developed or administered by any State agency or department, ~~except for alcohol and drug education programs developed by the Agency of Education in conjunction with the Alcohol and Drug Abuse Council pursuant to 16 V.S.A. § 909.~~

\* \* \*

Sec. 4. 18 V.S.A. § 7253 is amended to read:

§ 7253. CLINICAL RESOURCE MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT

The Commissioner of Mental Health, in consultation with health care providers as defined in section 9432 of this title, including designated hospitals, designated agencies, individuals with mental conditions or psychiatric disabilities, and other stakeholders, shall design and implement a clinical resource management system that ensures the highest quality of care and facilitates long-term, sustained recovery for individuals in the custody of the Commissioner.

\* \* \*

(2) For the purpose of maintaining the integrity and effectiveness of the clinical resource management system, the Department of Mental Health shall:

\* \* \*

(B) coordinate care across the mental and physical health care systems as well as ensure coordination within the Agency of Human Services, particularly the Department of Corrections, the Department of Health's ~~Alcohol and Drug Abuse~~ Division of Substance Use Programs, and the Department of Disabilities, Aging, and Independent Living;

\* \* \*

Sec. 5. 23 V.S.A. § 1216 is amended to read:

§ 1216. PERSONS UNDER 21 YEARS OF AGE; ALCOHOL  
CONCENTRATION OF 0.02 OR MORE

\* \* \*

(g) The Alcohol and Driving Program required under this section shall be administered by the ~~Office of Alcohol and Drug Abuse~~ Department of Health's Division of Substance Use Programs and shall take into consideration any particular treatment needs of operators under ~~the age of 21 years of age.~~

\* \* \*

Sec. 6. 23 V.S.A. § 3207f is amended to read:

§ 3207f. PERSONS UNDER 21 YEARS OF AGE; ALCOHOL  
CONCENTRATION OF 0.02 OR MORE

\* \* \*

(f) The alcohol program required under this section shall be administered by the ~~Office of Alcohol and Drug Abuse~~ Department of Health's Division of Substance Use Programs and shall take into consideration any particular treatment needs of operators under ~~the age of 21 years of age~~.

\* \* \*

Sec. 7. 23 V.S.A. § 3323a is amended to read:

§ 3323a. PERSONS UNDER 21 YEARS OF AGE; ALCOHOL  
CONCENTRATION OF 0.02 OR MORE

\* \* \*

(f) The alcohol program required under this section shall be administered by the ~~Office of Alcohol and Drug Abuse~~ Department of Health's Division of Substance Use Programs and shall take into consideration any particular treatment needs of operators under ~~the age of 21 years of age~~.

\* \* \*

Sec. 8. 33 V.S.A. § 5272 is amended to read:

§ 5272. JUVENILE JUSTICE UNIT; JUVENILE JUSTICE DIRECTOR

\* \* \*

(c) The Juvenile Justice Director shall ensure that the following occur:

\* \* \*

(3) cooperation among appropriate departments, including the Department; the Agency of Education; the Departments of Corrections, of Labor, of Mental Health, of Public Safety, and of Disabilities, Aging, and Independent Living; and the Department of Health's Division of Alcohol and Drug Abuse Substance Use Programs;

\* \* \*

\* \* \* Expansion of Drug Disposal Kiosks \* \* \*

Sec. 9. 18 V.S.A. § 4224 is amended to read:

§ 4224. UNUSED PRESCRIPTION DRUG DISPOSAL PROGRAM

(a) The Department of Health shall establish and maintain the Statewide

Unused Prescription Drug Disposal Program to provide for the safe disposal of Vermont residents' unused and unwanted prescription drugs. The Program may include establishing secure collection and disposal sites and providing medication envelopes for sending unused prescription drugs to an authorized collection facility for destruction.

(b) Pharmacies that operate 10 or more establishments in the United States, while concurrently conducting business in Vermont, shall enroll in a drug disposal kiosk program on or before December 31, 2022. If the physical dimensions of a pharmacy make an onsite collection receptacle impossible under State and federal law, a pharmacy shall provide a mail-back option for consumers.

\* \* \* Child Fatality Review Team \* \* \*

Sec. 10. 18 V.S.A. § 1561 is amended to read:

§ 1561. CHILD FATALITY REVIEW TEAM

\* \* \*

(g)(4) Confidentiality.

(1)(A) The records produced or acquired by the Team are exempt from public inspection and copying under the Public Records Act and shall be kept confidential. The records of the Team are not subject to subpoena, discovery, or introduction into evidence in a civil or criminal action. Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit or restrict the right to discover or use in any civil or criminal proceedings information or records that are available from another source and entirely outside the Team's review. The Team shall not use the information or records generated during the course of its review for purposes other than those described in this section.

(B) The Department may share deidentified data produced or acquired by the Team with other states that have child fatality review panels, provided access under such agreements is consistent with the privacy, security, and disclosure protections in this chapter.

\* \* \*

\* \* \* Autopsy Reports \* \* \*

Sec. 11. 18 V.S.A. § 5205 is amended to read:

§ 5205. DEATH CERTIFICATE WHEN NO ATTENDING PHYSICIAN  
AND IN OTHER CIRCUMSTANCES; AUTOPSY

\* \* \*

(f) The State's Attorney or Chief Medical Examiner, if either deem it necessary and in the interest of public health, welfare, and safety, or in furtherance of the administration of the law, may order an autopsy to be performed by the Chief Medical Examiner or under ~~his or her~~ the Chief Medical Examiner's direction. Upon completion of the autopsy, the Chief Medical Examiner shall submit a report to such State's Attorney and the Attorney General and shall submit a report of death to the State Registrar. Upon the written request of a federal prosecutor or a prosecutor in another state, the Chief Medical Examiner shall submit a report of a death to the requesting office.

\* \* \*

\* \* \* Regulation of Health Care Professions \* \* \*

Sec. 12. 26 V.S.A. § 3108 is amended to read:

§ 3108. PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT OF SCOPE OF PRACTICE

\* \* \*

(d) Impacted persons; statements and replies.

\* \* \*

(e) Consultation with Commissioner and boards.

(1) If an assessment under this section addresses activities that would constitute the "practice of medicine" as defined in subdivision 1311(1) of this title, the Office shall give written notice to the Commissioner of Health and any professional regulatory board or boards having jurisdiction over some or all of the regulated acts. The Office shall include with such notice a copy of the supporting information received from the requestor pursuant to subsection (b) of this section. Notice shall be given within 14 days after receipt of the requestor's supporting information.

(2) The Office shall consult the Commissioner and relevant board or boards with respect to the requestor's assertions under subsection (b) of this section. After consulting with the Office, and on or before November 15 of the year preceding the next regular session of the General Assembly, the Commissioner or relevant board or boards may file with the Office any written commentary they wish the Office to consider. Submitted commentary shall be appended to the Office's final report or assessment filed with the General Assembly.

\* \* \* Working Group on Services for Individuals with Eating Disorders \* \* \*

Sec. 13. WORKING GROUP ON SERVICES FOR INDIVIDUALS WITH EATING DISORDERS; REPORT

(a) Creation. There is created the Working Group on Services for Individuals with Eating Disorders to assess those services available to individuals with an eating disorder in Vermont and make recommendations to the General Assembly as to how access for services might be improved.

(b) Membership. The Working Group shall be composed of the following members:

(1) the Commissioner of Mental Health or designee, who shall serve as Chair;

(2) the Commissioner of Health or designee;

(3) a representative, appointed by Vermont Care Partners;

(4) a representative, appointed by the Vermont State School Nurses Association;

(5) a representative of Vermont colleges and universities, appointed by the Vermont Higher Education Council;

(6) a physician with relevant expertise, appointed by the Vermont Medical Society; and

(7) a representative, appointed by the Vermont chapter of the American Nutrition Association.

(c) Powers and duties.

(1) The Working Group shall:

(A) conduct an inventory of existing services in Vermont for individuals with eating disorders; and

(B) provide recommendations for expanding and improving existing services for individuals with eating disorders.

(2) In completing its duties pursuant to this section, the Working Group shall consult with individuals with lived experience with eating disorders, parents of individuals with eating disorders, medical or public health professionals with expertise in treatment and research related to eating disorders, and other relevant stakeholders.

(d) Assistance. The Working Group shall have the administrative, technical, and legal assistance of the Department of Mental Health.

(e) Report. On or before February 1, 2023, the Working Group shall submit a written report to the House Committees on Health Care and on Human Services and to the Senate Committee on Health and Welfare with its findings and any recommendations for legislative action.

(f) Meetings.

(1) The Chair shall call the first meeting of the Working Group to occur on or before September 1, 2022.

(2) A majority of the membership shall constitute a quorum.

(3) The Working Group shall cease to exist on February 1, 2023.

\* \* \* Effective Date \* \* \*

#### Sec. 14. EFFECTIVE DATE

This act shall take effect on July 1, 2022.

And that the bill ought to pass in concurrence with such proposal of amendment.

Thereupon, the bill was read the second time by title only pursuant to Rule 43, the proposal of amendment was agreed to, and third reading of the bill was ordered.

#### **Proposal of Amendment; Third Reading Ordered**

##### **H. 505.**

Senator Baruth, for the Committee on Judiciary, to which was referred House bill entitled:

An act relating to reclassification of penalties for unlawfully possessing, dispensing, and selling a regulated drug.

Reported recommending that the Senate propose to the House to amend the bill by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

Sec. 1. 18 V.S.A. § 4230 is amended to read:

§ 4230. CANNABIS

\* \* \*

~~(d) Cannabis-infused~~ Cannabis-infused products. Only the portion of a cannabis-infused product that is attributable to cannabis shall count toward the possession limits of this section. ~~The weight of cannabis that is attributable to cannabis-infused products shall be determined according to methods set forth~~

~~in rule by the Department of Public Safety in accordance with chapter 86 of this title (therapeutic use of cannabis).~~

Sec. 2. 18 V.S.A. § 4231 is amended to read:

§ 4231. COCAINE

\* \* \*

(c) Trafficking.

(1) ~~Trafficking.~~ A person knowingly and unlawfully possessing cocaine in an amount consisting of 150 grams or more of one or more preparations, compounds, mixtures, or substances containing cocaine with the intent to sell or dispense the cocaine shall be imprisoned not more than 30 years or fined not more than \$1,000,000.00, or both. There shall be a permissive inference that a person who possesses cocaine in an amount consisting of 150 grams or more of one or more preparations, compounds, mixtures, or substances containing cocaine intends to sell or dispense the cocaine. The amount of possessed cocaine under this subdivision to sustain a charge of conspiracy under 13 V.S.A. § 1404 shall be ~~no~~ not less than 400 grams in the aggregate.

(2) ~~A person knowingly and unlawfully possessing crack cocaine in an amount consisting of 60 grams or more of one or more preparations, compounds, mixtures, or substances containing crack cocaine with the intent to sell or dispense the crack cocaine shall be imprisoned not more than 30 years or fined not more than \$1,000,000.00, or both. There shall be a permissive inference that a person who possesses crack cocaine in an amount consisting of 60 grams or more of one or more preparations, compounds, mixtures, or substances containing crack cocaine intends to sell or dispense the crack cocaine. [Repealed.]~~

Sec. 3. 13 V.S.A. § 5453 is added to read:

§ 5453. DRUG USE STANDARDS ADVISORY BOARD

(a) There is hereby created the Drug Use Standards Advisory Board established within the Vermont Sentencing Commission composed of experts in the fields of general and mental health care, substance use disorder treatment, and drug user communities.

(b) The primary objective of the Board shall be to determine, for each regulated and unregulated drug, the benchmark personal use dosage and the benchmark personal use supply. The benchmarks determined pursuant to this subsection shall be determined with a goal of preventing and reducing the criminalization of personal drug use. The Board may provide additional recommendations to the Commission and the General Assembly regarding

how to transition from a criminal justice approach to a public health approach to addressing drug possession.

(c)(1) The Board shall be convened and chaired by the Deputy Commissioner of Alcohol and Drug Abuse Programs. After receiving nominations from harm reduction service providers, the Deputy Commissioner shall appoint three consumer representatives to the Board who have lived experience in drug use and consumption practices. The Deputy Commissioner, after consulting with the three consumer representatives, shall strive for geographic diversity in appointing the remaining Board members as follows:

(A) two representatives from harm reduction service providers;

(B) an expert on medication-assisted treatment programs;

(C) an expert on human behavior and addiction;

(D) an expert on substance use disorder treatment;

(E) an expert on legal reform from the Vermont Law School Center for Justice Reform;

(F) an academic researcher specializing in drug use or drug policy;  
and

(G) a representative of law enforcement.

(2) The Chief Prevention Officer shall be a nonvoting member of the Board.

(d) The Board shall have the administrative assistance of the Division of Alcohol and Drug Abuse Programs.

(e) Members of the Board shall be entitled to per diems pursuant to 32 V.S.A. § 1010 for not more than three meetings to develop initial recommendations required by subsection (f) of this section and once annually thereafter.

(f) On or before September 1, 2022, the Board shall provide to the Commission and the General Assembly:

(1) the recommended quantities for both the benchmark personal use dosage and benchmark personal use supply for each category of regulated drug listed in 18 V.S.A. § 4201(29); and

(2) a recommendation as to whether 18 V.S.A. § 4233 (heroin) and 18 V.S.A. § 4233a (fentanyl) should be combined into one statute.

(g) On or before December 1, 2022, based on the benchmark personal use dosage and benchmark personal use supply recommendations of the Board, the Commission shall make recommendations to the General Assembly regarding



adjustments in the amounts for possession, dispensing, and sale of regulated drugs under this chapter and a proposal for combining the heroin and fentanyl statutes if recommended by the Board.

(h) Starting in 2023, the Board shall convene at least one time per year to review benchmarks established pursuant to this section and recommend any necessary amendments to the Commission and the General Assembly.

(i) As used in this section:

(1) "Benchmark personal use dosage" means the quantity of a drug commonly consumed over a 24-hour period for any therapeutic, medicinal, or recreational purpose.

(2) "Benchmark personal use supply" means the quantity of a drug commonly possessed for consumption by an individual for any therapeutic, medicinal, or recreational purpose.

#### Sec. 4. SUNSET OF DRUG USE STANDARDS ADVISORY BOARD

13 V.S.A. § 5453 (Drug Use Standards Advisory Board) is repealed on July 1, 2027.

#### Sec. 5. EFFECTIVE DATE

This act shall take effect on July 1, 2022.

And that after passage the title of the bill be amended to read:

An act relating to the creation of the Drug Use Standards Advisory Board within the Vermont Sentencing Commission.

And that the bill ought to pass in concurrence with such proposal of amendment.

Senator Baruth, for the Committee on Appropriations, to which the bill was referred, reported recommending that the bill ought to pass in concurrence with proposal of amendment as recommended by the Committee on Judiciary.

Thereupon, the bill was read the second time by title only pursuant to Rule 43, the proposal of amendment was agreed to, and third reading of the bill was ordered.

### **Proposals of Amendment; Third Reading Ordered**

#### **H. 515.**

Senator Cummings, for the Committee on Finance, to which was referred House bill entitled:

An act relating to banking, insurance, and securities.

Reported recommending that the Senate propose to the House to amend the bill as follows:

First: In Sec. 10, 8 V.S.A. chapter 148, section 7122, subsection (b), by striking out “herein”

Second: In Sec. 20, 8 V.S.A. § 4728, subdivision (c)(2), by striking out “but not limited to”

Third: In Sec. 20, 8 V.S.A. § 4728, subdivision (c)(3)(A), immediately preceding “process” by inserting the word protective

Fourth: By adding a new section 23a to read as follows:

Sec. 23a. DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL REGULATION; BROADBAND CONSTRUCTION; INSURANCE; GUIDANCE

(a) The availability of significant federal funds coupled with the State’s commitment to achieving universal broadband connectivity has resulted in an unprecedented period of broadband construction in our State. It is the purpose of this section to provide educational risk management guidance to broadband service providers engaged in broadband construction projects to reduce the risk of harm or injury to Vermonters, generally. It is not the intent of this section to establish new or expand existing rights, obligations, or remedies. Broadband service providers should consult with insurance professionals and legal counsel when developing specific contractual terms and conditions.

(b) The Department of Financial Regulation, in consultation with the Public Utility Commission, shall develop a guidance document that includes recommendations related to standard insurance requirements and measures that ensure adequate coverage is in force for the duration of broadband construction projects. The guidance shall be posted on a website maintained by the Public Utility Commission and shall be distributed by the Commission to every broadband service provider that registers with the State as well as to the Vermont Community Broadband Board for distribution to recipients of State broadband construction grants.

(c) The Department of Financial Regulation may include in the guidance any recommendations for mitigating liability risk through safe cleanup practices on a broadband construction worksite and may include notification of the requirements pertaining to the proper disposal of solid waste as established in 24 V.S.A. § 2201.

(d) The guidance required by this section shall be published on or before September 15, 2022.

And that the bill ought to pass in concurrence with such proposals of amendment.

Senator Baruth, for the Committee on Appropriations, to which the bill was referred, reported recommending that the bill ought to pass in concurrence with proposals of amendment as recommended by the Committee on Finance.

Thereupon, the bill was read the second time by title only pursuant to Rule 43, the proposals of amendment were collectively agreed to, and third reading of the bill was ordered.

### **Adjournment**

On motion of Senator Balint, the Senate adjourned until ten o'clock in the forenoon on Wednesday, April 27, 2022.